STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 11 2022

Certiorari to Greenville County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RONNIE C. SWOFFORD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001436

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was Petitioner denied effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to challenge the prosecution's claim that Petitioner's fresh blood was splattered on the wall, where SLED found there was no blood on the wall, and where the freshness of the (nonexistent) blood was used to discredit Petitioner's alibi?

STATEMENT

Procedural history

During the November term of 2009, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Ronnie Swofford, for first-degree burglary, assault and battery with intent to kill, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. During the September term of 2011, a Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for assault with intent to kill. App. 1147 – 1154. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Edward W. Miller from May 14 – 17, 2012. Petitioner was represented by Andrew Johnston and Gerald Wilson. Kris Hodge prosecuted the case. App. 1. The State sought a life without parole sentence for two of the offenses pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 based on Petitioner’s prior convictions. App. 728, l. 25 – 729, l. 22.

Petitioner was convicted as indicted. App. 725, l. 23 – 726, l. 18. The court sentenced him to life without parole for first-degree burglary, life without parole for assault and battery with intent to kill, ten years for assault with intent to kill, and five years for possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. The court did not impose a sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 725, l. 23 – 726, l. 18.

Petitioner’s direct appeal was dismissed by the Court of Appeals at his request on June 28, 2013. App. 733 – 736. Petitioner then filed a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence based on the discovery of potential trial witness Terry Stevens.¹ See App. 737 – 740. On December 9, 2013, the circuit court issued an order denying Petitioner’s motion. App. 741 – 745. Petitioner’s appeal of the order denying his motion for a new trial based on newly-

¹ Undersigned counsel was unable to obtain Petitioner’s motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence; the Greenville County Clerk of Court’s Office did not have the motion.

discovered evidence was dismissed by the Court of Appeals at his request on June 23, 2014. App. 752 – 753.

On July 8, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 754 – 761. On January 13, 2015, the State made its return. App. 762 – 768. On October 21, 2015, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely. Mills Ariail represented Petitioner. Karen Ratigan represented the State. App. 778. On January 7, 2016, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 858 – 868. On February 2, 2016, PCR counsel filed and served a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. App. 869 – 891. On February 8, 2016, the State made a return. App. 892 – 893. On February 19, 2016, the PCR court denied the motion. App. 894 – 895.

On March 3, 2016, PCR counsel filed and served an untimely notice of appeal of Petitioner's PCR denial. App. 896 – 897. On September 27, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an order dismissing the appeal based on PCR counsel's failure to timely serve notice of appeal. App. 989.

On November 6, 2018, Petitioner filed a second PCR application seeking appellate review of his PCR denial pursuant to *Austin v. State*, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). App. 992 – 1004. On December 13, 2019, the State made its return and partial motion to dismiss. App. 1005 – 1011. A hearing was convened via Webex on November 8, 2021 before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner and Taylor Smith represented the State. App. 1012 – 1063. By order filed November 23, 2021, Judge Morgan granted Petitioner a belated appeal pursuant to *Austin v. State*, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). App. 1137 – 1142.

Relevant facts

Curtis Wooten, Complainant, alleged that at approximately 2:30 a.m. on July 27, 2009, a gunman wearing a ski mask entered his home in Greer just after Complainant walked into the house with groceries. Complainant alleged the gunman called Complainant's name and when Complainant turned, the gunman fired two shots, striking Complainant in the abdomen. Complainant returned fire with one shot from his own gun, striking the gunman. Rikki Edwards, Complainant's girlfriend, was home during the shooting but she was not hit by gunfire. Complainant and Edwards called 911 and drove to the hospital. App. 63, ll. 12-22; App. 69, l. 15 -77, l. 8. The 911 operator asked if Complainant knew who had shot him and Complainant did not answer. App. 108, ll. 11-20. Police initially suspected Edwards shot Complainant herself. App. 304, ll. 14-24; App. 340, l. 4 – 341, l. 19.

Complainant was badly injured, and ultimately had to be put on a ventilator for some time and have his spleen and a kidney removed, and he suffered other serious problems. App. 137, l. 18 – 139, l. 23. However, Officer Hayes went to the hospital at 2:45 a.m. and was able to talk to Complainant briefly as treatment was being initiated. Officer Hayes asked Complainant if he knew who had shot him and Complainant said no. Officer Hayes then asked Complainant if he knew anyone who would want to do this to him. Complainant replied that he thought Petitioner would do this to him because Petitioner owed him money. Officer Hayes asked if Complainant was certain that Petitioner was the person who shot him and Complainant said he was not. Nevertheless, Complainant claimed at trial he was 99.9 percent sure Petitioner was the gunman because he saw Petitioner's face through the opening of the ski mask and because he recognized Petitioner's voice. App. 66, l. 21 – 67, l. 17; App. 84, l. 20 – 87, l. 7; App. 111, l. 12 – 115, l. 22; App. 131, l. 5 – 133, l. 11; App. 142, l. 5 – 144, l. 8.

Law enforcement searched Complainant's home for evidence and they found 3 shell casings and a bullet jacket on the floor. They saw a hole in the kitchen wall. A red substance was splattered on the wall around the hole and they thought it might be blood. App. 156, l. 17 – 165, l. 23. (It was not blood. Petitioner would later explain Complainant's home was "dirty and nasty.") App. 793, l. 24. Officers collected the casings and the bullet jacket, and they cut out the section of the wall that had the bullet hole and splattered substance. App. 165, l. 24 – 166, l. 5; App. 177, l. 24 – 179, l. 18; App. 189, l. 9 – 196, l. 13. Officers sent evidence to SLED and asked for a rush on the DNA analysis. Petitioner's DNA was already in the system and was quickly matched to an unspecified piece of evidence from the scene (possibly the bullet jacket). App. 311, l. 1 – 312, l. 9; App. 316, ll. 15-23. A warrant was sought for Petitioner's arrest, and he was apprehended a few weeks later with round, scabbed wounds on his arm. App. 319, l. 15 – 321, l. 10; App. 334, ll. 19-22.

Petitioner testified at his trial, and he denied shooting Complainant. App. 569, ll. 19-21. However, Petitioner explained that he himself had been shot by Complainant about a week prior to this incident when Complainant accidentally shot him in the arm while Complainant was intoxicated. App. 531, l. 20 – 540, l. 18. Petitioner presented the testimony of several witnesses who had seen the gunshot wound or had seen his arm bandaged days prior to the incident date. App. 369, l. 7 – 370, l. 21; App. 377, l. 2 – 380, l. 5; App. 391, l. 15 – 394, l. 6; App. 408, l. 21 – 409, l. 23; App. 498, l. 14 – 499, l. 22.

Petitioner also presented an alibi defense. Petitioner presented the testimony of a friend who had seen him driving home the night of the incident, a neighbor who saw him arrive home that night, and the testimony of Petitioner's fiancée and her daughter who were home with him at the time Complainant was shot. App. 415, l. 9 – 417, l. 12; App. 450, l. 13 – 453, l. 9; App. 463,

l. 25 – 469, l. 1; App. 473, l. 10 – 479, l. 14. Petitioner admitted he had prior criminal convictions and he was cross-examined on his failure to explain his defense to law enforcement prior to trial. App. 501, l. 21 – 502, l. 1; App. 615, l. 8 – 617, l. 12. Several of the defense witnesses had prior criminal convictions. App. 388, l. 22 – 389, l. 2; App. 394, l. 20 – 395, l. 9; App. 419, ll. 4-6. Of note, Petitioner’s fiancée, Shannon Lawter, was further impeached.²

SLED analyzed the forensic evidence in this case, and the relevant evidence presented by the State’s witnesses during its case in chief was as follows. An unspecified type of hair from the cut-out section of the wall was found to match Petitioner’s DNA. The hair had tissue attached to the root. A “380 auto” bullet jacket found on the floor which contained suspected blood tissue was swabbed for analysis. The swab was not tested for the presence of blood but it was tested for DNA. The swab was found to match Petitioner’s DNA. As to both the swab from the bullet jacket and the hair, there was a 1 in 24 quadrillion probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual having a DNA profile matching these items. App. 167, ll. 5-7; App. 172, l. 17 – 173, l. 2; App. 226, ll. 7-9; App. 269, l. 2 – 274, l. 20. There were also fibers of black fabric stuck to the wall. App. 260, l. 17 – 261, l. 8.

Importantly, SLED found the splattered substance on the wall was **not** blood. State’s Exhibit # 53 was the cut-away section from the wall, which had been sent to SLED. App. 178, l. 3 – 179, l. 13. Verona Gibson, who was an evidence processing technician at SLED and who was qualified as an expert in forensics processing, testified that she swabbed State’s Exhibit # 53 and

² Lawter stated during cross-examination that she did not tell her acquaintance Deborah Martinez Ruiz that Petitioner told Lawter he shot Complainant accidentally. App. 439, l. 13 – 442, l. 17. Martinez Ruiz was called as a rebuttal witness and she claimed that Lawter did tell her Petitioner confessed to shooting Complainant in self-defense. App. 629, l. 25 – 631, l. 13. Martinez Ruiz was admittedly mentally ill and heavily medicated. App. 626, l. 18 – 627, l. 20.

tested it for blood, but the test was negative. App. 246, l. 14 – 247, l. 16; App. 252, l. 6 – 253, l.

9. The following exchange took place between the prosecutor and Gibson.

Q. All right. I think what has now been marked State's No. 53; see if you can identify this.

A. Yes, ma'am. This is a section of the wall that I processed.

...

Q. Okay. And your presumptive test on this one?

A. Was negative.

Q. Was negative for blood. Okay.

App. 252, l. 5 – 253, l. 9. To be clear, the splatter on the wall was not blood and it was therefore not Petitioner's blood. Prior to trial, it appears both the prosecution and the defense received the SLED report which showed SLED's analysis found no blood on the wall. App. 984 – 986.

Nevertheless, in her opening statement, the prosecutor claimed Petitioner's DNA was found splattered on the wall at the crime scene. "[T]he person that was the shooter, the person that was shot by Mr. Wooten left behind his DNA. A splatter on the kitchen wall and body tissue and hair, is the DNA of the Defendant, Ronnie Swofford." App. 48, ll. 5-9. (In fact, as seen, only Petitioner's hair was found on the wall and his DNA was found on a bullet jacket on the floor.) In his opening statement, defense counsel did not correct this critical misstatement of fact. Instead, defense counsel agreed, "The blood and tissue that was found in the home of Curtis Wooten belongs to my client, Ronnie Swofford." App. 49, ll. 18-19. During the State's case-in-chief, Sergeant David Weiner testified the kitchen wall appeared to have blood on it. App. 235, ll. 11-15.

After the defense had rested its case, which included Petitioner's alibi witnesses and his innocent explanation about being shot a week prior to the incident, the prosecution recalled

Investigator Chris Miller in rebuttal to testify about the (nonexistent) blood on the wall. Miller had been a police officer for 18 years and a homicide investigator for 5 years. App. 637, ll. 2-5. The prosecutor attempted to qualify Miller as an expert in gunshot and crime scene reconstruction and she asked Miller whether the substance on the wall would still appear red if it had been deposited several days earlier. App. 637, l. 12 – 638, l. 6. While questioning Miller during voir dire, defense counsel stated that one would not need to be an expert to tell if blood was fresh. App. 639, ll. 18-24. Therefore, the trial court did not rule on Miller’s qualification and simply told the prosecutor that since defense counsel had conceded one need not be an expert to determine whether blood was fresh, the detective could testify to that. App. 642, ll. 2-4. The prosecutor elicited the following testimony from Miller.

Q. In State’s No. 39, the matter that you see as suspected or possible blood, tissue, hair, does that appear to be fresh blood, tissue, hair in your experience?

A. That would be fresh blood, the red.

Q. I need you to say that in the microphone?

A. The blood is red.

Q. And what does that tell you?

A. That it is still fresh.

App. 642, ll. 7-15. State’s Exhibit # 39 was a photograph of the red substance splattered on the wall. App. 164, l. 6 – 165, l. 23; App. 178, l. 3 – 180, l. 1. *See* App. 1132. As seen, Verona Gibson of SLED, who tested the wall for blood, had already testified the substance on the wall was not blood.

On cross-examination, defense counsel only asked Miller one question.

Q. Your testimony is that this is fresh because it’s still in a liquid state? I’m holding No. 39 in my hand. That’s your testimony?

A. Yes, sir.

App. 645, ll. 10-16.

Defense counsel did not address the fact that there was no blood on the wall with Detective Miller, Verona Gibson, or any witness at all. Defense counsel did not argue to the jury that SLED had found there was no blood on the wall. Defense counsel never acknowledged there was no blood on the wall. Instead, in his closing argument, defense counsel said Miller was wrong about the “blood evidence” because fresh blood would be dripping off the wall. App. 654, l. 19 – 655, l. 6. The freshness of the nonexistent blood on the wall was used by the prosecution, to devastating effect, to discredit Petitioner’s alibi defense and innocent explanation that he was shot the week before by Complainant.

In her closing argument, the prosecutor argued the (nonexistent) blood could not have been deposited on the wall days earlier in keeping with Petitioner’s defense since it was still red and fresh. “That’s body tissue and hair and suspected blood would just be on his kitchen wall for six days? And he wants you to say that this is six days old. I don’t think it takes an expert to testify to you that that stuff is fresh, That is fresh body tissue and blood. When blood dries, it turns brown, doesn’t it? It turns a brownish color.” App. 691, ll. 11-17.

The jury deliberated for three hours but it convicted Petitioner of all charges. App. 725, l. 5 – 736, l. 18.

At his PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that defense counsel failed to address the prosecutor’s incorrect claim that Petitioner’s blood was on the wall when it was not.

Ms. Hodge knew that the actual results of this same blood test, and they knew that my blood didn’t exist. And I felt like that since **Mr. Johnston pretty much conceded me being there with this blood in the beginning, never questioning the exerts to refute that ‘hey, this is not his blood.’ And continuing to get in debates with Detective Miller about how fresh the blood is and . . . how**

red the blood is. The solicitor expounded on the same thing . . . she knew it wasn't blood . . . She expounded about how fresh the blood was, How red it was and . . . both attorneys for the State and the Defense knew what did and did not exist and the jury should not have [been told] those things.

App. 812, l. 21 – 814, l. 4 (emphasis added).

At the PCR hearing, defense counsel testified that he did not remember “exactly what all was involved with” the matter of the purported blood splatter. However, defense counsel recalled the prosecutor used a photograph of purported fresh blood splatter on the wall to “refute Mr. Swofford’s claim that he had been shot in the home roughly a week prior.” App. 842, l. 16 – 843, l. 19.

In its order of dismissal, the PCR court found counsel’s representation was not ineffective regarding the purported blood evidence. “Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have challenged the blood and hair evidence. While the Applicant argued the blood evidence was not actually blood . . . this Court does not find these arguments persuasive.” App. 864. “The SLED expert witness testified a swab of tissue from the victim’s kitchen floor and a hair taken from the victim’s wall both matched the Applicant. App. 864. “Trial counsel’s defense theory was that this genetic material was from a prior accidental shooting (of the Applicant) at the victim’s house and that he had an alibi for the time when the victim was shot.” App. 864. “In presenting this defense at trial, this Court finds trial counsel properly questioned the State’s expert witnesses and then argued to the jury in closing argument that the State’s forensic evidence was not dispositive. The Applicant has failed to prove trial counsel was deficient.” App. 864. The court further found Petitioner had failed to prove prejudice. App. 866.

As seen, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal of the denial of PCR based on untimely service of the notice of intent to appeal. After Petitioner filed a second PCR application, that PCR court granted Petitioner belated appellate review pursuant to *Austin*.

This petition for writ of certiorari pursuant to *Austin v. State* follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner was denied effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to challenge the prosecution's claim that Petitioner's fresh blood was splattered on the wall, where SLED found there was no blood on the wall, and where the freshness of the (nonexistent) blood was used to discredit Petitioner's alibi.

Defense counsel's failure to respond to the prosecution's factually incorrect claim that Petitioner's blood was splattered on the wall of Complainant's home was ineffective assistance of counsel. The State's forensic expert from SLED testified there was no blood on the wall. App. 252, 1. 5 – 253, 1. 9. It appears that prior to trial both the prosecution and the defense had received the SLED report which concluded there was no blood on the wall. App. 984 – 986. Nevertheless, the prosecutor argued that Petitioner's fresh blood was splattered on the wall, and she elicited from Investigator Miller that there was "fresh" blood on the wall. Counsel never corrected these misstatements, and, in fact, he conceded Petitioner's blood was present. The prosecutor used the nonexistent blood evidence to devastating effect in nullifying Petitioner's alibi.

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); U.S. Const. am. VI. A two-pronged test for determining effective assistance of counsel was set forth in *Strickland*. The first prong requires an applicant show that counsel's performance was deficient; the second prong requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant to the extent there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The PCR court's finding of effective representation here was error. *See Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018) (We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. We review questions of law de novo). The State argued Petitioner's fresh blood was splattered on the wall, an argument that, if believed, negated Petitioner's alibi defense. The prosecutor elicited from her own expert witness that the witness tested the wall for blood and the test was negative. App. 252, l. 5 – 253, l. 9. The claim that Petitioner's fresh blood was on the wall was factually incorrect. At best, there was an inference that Petitioner's blood was on the bullet jacket (which was on the floor and was not tested for blood) since his DNA was on the jacket. However, any DNA on the jacket was not wetly splattered on the wall effectively negating Petitioner's defense.

Counsel had valid objections he could have made to the prosecutor's elicitation from Investigator Miller that there was "fresh," "red," "blood" on the wall and from her elicitation from Sergeant Weiner that there appeared to be blood on the wall. Counsel could have objected under Rule 403, SCRE, since the evidence was likely to mislead the jury. Counsel could have objected to facts not in evidence. *See, e.g., State v. Tyner*, 273 S.C. 646, 654–55, 258 S.E.2d 559, 564 (1979) (trial court properly sustained objection to question that assumed facts not in evidence). Counsel could have objected on due process grounds, since "the presentation of known false evidence is incompatible with rudimentary demands of justice." *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 153 (1972) (quoting *Mooney v. Holohan*, 294 U.S. 103, 112 (1935)) (internal quotations removed); U.S. Const. am. XIV. *See also Washington v. State*, 324 S.C. 232, 235, 478 S.E.2d 833, 835 (1996) (even where it does not solicit false evidence, State may not allow it to go uncorrected when it appears). Counsel also had valid objections to the prosecutor's argument about the "blood." Counsel could have objected on the grounds that the argument was

not confined to the evidence and reasonable inferences from the evidence. *See State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) (solicitor's closing argument may not be calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it).

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