RECEIVED

Dec 07 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Greenville County

The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Trial Judge
The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001436

RONNIE C. SWOFFORD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**AMENDED RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO *AUSTIN V. STATE***

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Martinez testified during the State's case-in-reply that she was Petitioner's and Lawter's

neighbor. App. 625. She testified that Lawter had visited her in February of 2019 after having had an argument with Petitioner and said that Petitioner told her that he had shot the victim in self-defense, and that Lawter said that she did not want to testify against Petitioner because they had a son together and that she would not say in court what Petitioner had told her. App. 629-33.

Inv. Miller also took the stand again. He testified that Petitioner's witnesses had not told him the things about which they testified. App. 635-36. After trial counsel said outside the presence of the jury that the determination of whether a blood smear on a wall is "fresh" was a matter within lay knowledge, Inv. Miller testified before the jury that a photograph of the victim's wall appeared to show "fresh blood, tissue, [and] hair." App. 639-42. He believed that the blood was "fresh" because it was red and still in a liquid state. App. 642, 645.

During closing arguments, the issue of the suspected blood on the wall came up again. Trial counsel admitted that Petitioner's DNA was in the victim's home, but argued that the State had not performed analysis to determine the length of time that the blood had been on the victim's wall, disagreed with Inv. Miller's opinion that the blood was fresh, and said that the officers must have told the victim about the presence of Petitioner's blood on the wall before the victim gave his written statement. App. 654-55, 665. The solicitor argued that Petitioner's allegation that his body tissue, hair, and suspected blood had been in the victim's home for the six days between the alleged accidental shooting and the shooting of the victim was not credible, argued that the body tissue and blood were fresh because the blood on the wall had not yet turned brown when the photograph of it had been taken, and said that the State had tissue, hair, and blood DNA that put Petitioner at the crime scene. App. 691, 703. The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted on all counts, and the trial court issued the mandatory life sentences. App. 725-26, 731.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, the appellate courts defer to the PCR court’s factual findings and will uphold them if there is probative evidence in the record to support them. *Buckson v. State*, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); *Smalls*, at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). The PCR court’s findings regarding prejudice are based on a thorough review of the record as a whole and, accordingly, are inherently fact-based and must be afforded deference by a reviewing appellate court. *See Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 334, 806 S.E.2d 713, 723 (2017) (“The PCR court found the case ‘came down to the victim’s believability and credibility.’ The PCR court found the most damaging testimony to Briggs . . . was not reliable because [the witnesses] ‘credibility is highly suspect.’ Finally, the PCR court found ‘there is a reasonable probability that the result of the Applicant’s trial would have been different’ if Singleton had not allowed Arroyo-Staggs to improperly bolster the victim. Giving to the factual findings by the PCR court the deference we are required by law to give, we affirm the court’s finding that Briggs proved prejudice, satisfying the second prong *Strickland*.”). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed de novo without deference to the lower court. *Smalls*, at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court was correct to deny the application because Petitioner has failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of his trial would have been different had trial counsel ensured that it was clear that the State did not find any evidence that Petitioner's blood was on the victim's kitchen wall.

Trial counsel was the first person to tell the jury that Petitioner's blood was on the victim's kitchen wall. The solicitor said in her opening statement that the intruder left behind "[a] splatter on the kitchen wall and body tissue and hair," and that the DNA matched Petitioner's. App. 48. She did not say then that Petitioner's blood was on the wall; in fact, she did not reference Petitioner's blood at all at that time. It was trial counsel who said in his opening statement that the blood and tissue found at the scene belonged to Petitioner, and said that it would be the meaning of their presence that would make the difference. App. 49. During the State's case-in-chief, the victim testified that he had been informed that the projectile found inside his wall had Petitioner's blood on it and, responding to a question from trial counsel, testified that he may have heard about the blood before giving his written statement. App. 133-34. Officer Derby and Sgt. Weiner were careful to say that the substance on the wall appeared to be blood, was suspected blood, or possibly was blood; at that point, no forensic analysis had been performed in order to know the true makeup of the substance. App. 177-78, 196-97, 235. SLED Agent Gibson then clarified that the swabbed portion of the wall tested negative for the presence of blood. App. 252-53. Inv. Miller then, when describing the victim's kitchen upon his arrival, testified that blood and tissue were splattered on the wall. App. 302. Petitioner conceded during his testimony that his blood may have been in the victim's home due to the fact that he had been shot while there. App. 543, 591. The solicitor then asked Inv. Miller if the suspected blood in a photograph of the victim's wall appeared to show fresh blood, and he testified that the blood was fresh, and explained on cross-examination that it

looked fresh because it appeared to be a liquid and not a dried substance. App. 640-42. Then the parties addressed the issue again in closing.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the post-conviction relief court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). First, the applicant must prove that the performance of his lawyer was deficient. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*). Petitioner argues that trial counsel should have objected to the solicitor's examination of Inv. Miller regarding the "fresh" blood on the wall and of her examination of Sgt. Weiner about his observation that there was blood on the wall when he was in the kitchen. Sgt. Weiner was explicitly testifying about his visual observations at the scene, and it was clear from his testimony that he was describing what *appeared* to him be blood. Apparently, the substance on the wall did look like blood and Sgt. Weiner would not have known otherwise at that point in the investigation, so there was nothing improper about his qualified description. The fact that even trial counsel and Petitioner seem to have conceded that the substance looked like blood mitigates any reason to think that the witnesses' descriptions of the substance as blood were insincere; in fact, trial counsel offered a reasonable explanation that, at some points in the trial, the technical terms for the biological substances found at the crime scene may have been used interchangeably. It is unclear from the record if the photograph that Inv. Miller was looking at when he testified about the freshness of the blood depicted the substance that the SLED agents had tested or if it depicted some other substance on the wall that was not specifically identified in a way that would be illuminating to one studying the trial transcript. For that reason, Petitioner has

failed to prove that the solicitor's witness examination and closing argument were intentionally misleading. Admittedly, though, it does seem as if the lawyers on *both* sides conducted themselves at trial as if the substance on the wall was blood—and Petitioner's blood at that—despite the SLED agent's testimony that the wall swab had tested negative for the presence of blood.

The second prong of the *Strickland* analysis is that the deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for [the lawyer's] unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another. Even if a defendant shows that particular errors of counsel were unreasonable, therefore, the defendant must show that they actually had an adverse effect on the defense.” *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985) (quotation omitted). The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove that he suffered prejudice from his lawyer's performance. App. 866. Regardless of their exact locations in the victim's kitchen, samples of DNA found in the kitchen matched Petitioner's DNA. The State's DNA expert matched Petitioner's DNA to a sample taken from a projectile collected from the floor of the victim's kitchen and to a hair taken from the victim's kitchen wall. Even if trial counsel had prevented all references at trial to the blood-like substance on the wall, there would have remained overwhelming evidence that Petitioner had been in the victim's home and that he had been shot there with a .380 caliber firearm.

The greatest challenge to Petitioner's defense was that he had to contend with the victim's identification of him as the intruder while also explaining away the gunshot wound in his arm. This challenge would have been present even if trial counsel and the solicitor had not conducted

the trial as if Petitioner's blood was present on Petitioner's wall. Petitioner has not proven that there is a reasonable likelihood that but for any deficiency in trial counsel's performance for trying the case as if Petitioner's blood was on the victim's wall that the jury's verdict would have been any different. First, Petitioner's witnesses' stories about his actions on the night of the shooting and about his explanations for his injury were not credible. Petitioner's first witness had known him for about twenty years and had been his friend for some years, and had also worked for Petitioner on fabrication jobs. Petitioner's next witness was his mother, who gave a description of the dressings on Petitioner's alleged wounds that differed from his own, who gave a non-credible explanation for her not telling law enforcement officers of the existence of Petitioner's wound before the crimes at issue in the case, and who had impeachable criminal convictions on her record. Petitioner's third witness was a man who had known Petitioner for decades and been close friends with him for almost a decade, who gave a description of Petitioner's wound dressing that differed from Petitioner's own, who gave a non-credible explanation for his pre-trial silence about the timing of Petitioner's alleged arm wound, and who had impeachable criminal convictions on his record. Petitioner's fourth witness was his ex-girlfriend and mother of his child, who gave a non-credible explanation for her pre-trial silence about the alleged wound on Petitioner's arm, whose testimony was cast in doubt by (among other things) another witness's rebuttal testimony that the girlfriend had talked about an incriminating statement made by Petitioner and had said that she would not reveal the truth of the matter at trial, who had made threatening statements to another of Petitioner's witnesses in an apparent attempt to secure his favorable testimony for Petitioner, and who had an impeachable criminal conviction on her record. Petitioner's fifth witness was his step-son who gave non-credible testimony about the reason that he did not inform officers of the

alleged wound on Petitioner's arm and who testified that he would do whatever he could to help Petitioner. Petitioner's sixth witness was someone who had known Petitioner for a long time, who had at least one criminal conviction serious enough to justify a prison sentence, and who gave non-credible testimony that he did not inform officers that he had seen Petitioner on the night of the shooting for which Petitioner had been arrested. Petitioner's seventh witness was a special needs young man who backtracked his alibi testimony while on the stand and ended up testifying that his initial testimony had been a recitation of what Petitioner wanted him to say, that Petitioner's girlfriend had communicated with him in advance of trial about his testimony in a way that made him feel threatened, that he felt that Petitioner was trying to manipulate him, and that he felt scared to testify against Petitioner.

Second, Petitioner's testimony that he did not seek medical attention for or report the alleged accidental shooting because he wanted to protect the victim and because he did not think the wound serious enough was absurd. Petitioner downplayed his relationship with the victim to the extent that it is not believable that he would have felt such loyalty to the victim that he would have tried to conceal the alleged accidental shooting. And Petitioner, who has AIDS, would not have merely rinsed his arm with a garden hose and doctored it up himself with veterinarian supplies from home that was meant for dogs had he not had some personal reason for the wound to go undetected, like needing to avoid law enforcement scrutiny following the attempted murders of the victim and Edwards.

Third, the jury could not have accepted Petitioner's contention that days went by between the alleged accidental shooting and the shooting at issue in the case while the biological matter

that Petitioner left behind in the victim's kitchen was undisturbed and still useful for forensic analysis.

CONCLUSION

Even if there had been no errant testimony or arguments at trial that suggested that Petitioner's blood was on the victim's kitchen wall, Petitioner has failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that his parade of criminals, family members with absurd testimony, and a coerced and impressionable witness would have been able to rebut the State's evidence such that the jury's verdict would have been any different. The PCR court was correct to deny the application and this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.